China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited Terms of Reference of the Board of Directors

CONTENTS

Chapter 1	General Provisions
Chapter 2	Authorities and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
Chapter 3	Structure of the Board of Directors
Chapter 4	Board Secretary
Chapter 5	Meeting System of the Board of Directors
Chapter 6	Procedures for discussion of the Board of Directors
Chapter 7	Information Disclosure for Meetings of the Board of Directors
Chapter 8	Document Management for Meetings of the Board of Directors
Chapter 9	Execution and Feedback of Resolutions of the Board of Directors
Chapter 10	Supplementary Provisions

China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited

Terms of Reference of the Board of Directors

Chapter 1 General Provisions

Article 1 China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited (hereafter referred to as the "Company") has established the Terms of Reference in accordance with the Company Law of the People's Republic of China, the Mandatory Provisions of the Articles of Association of Companies Listed Abroad, the Guide on the Articles of Association of Listed Companies, the Governance Rules for Listed Companies, Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (hereafter referred to as the "Hong Kong Listing Rules"), other supervision laws and regulations at home and abroad, and the Articles of Association of China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited (hereafter referred to as the "Articles of Association"), for the purposes of ensuring its compliant operation, increasing working efficiency and enhancing scientific decision-making of the Board of Directors, governing the composition, responsibilities, authorities and operating procedure of the Board of Directors, and safeguarding the interests of the Company and the legitimate rights and interests of the shareholders.

Chapter 2 Authorities and Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

Article 2 The Board of Directors shall exercise its authorities in accordance with the Articles of Association, and convene, report to, execute resolutions made by, and be responsible to the Shareholders' General Meeting.

Article 3 The major responsibilities of the Board of Directors are as follows:

(1) to be responsible for the convening of Shareholders' General Meetings and report its work in the Shareholders' General Meeting;

(2) to implement the resolutions of Shareholders' General Meetings;

(3) to decide the Company's business plans and investment plans, specific annual business goals as well as financing plans other than the issue of debentures or other securities or any listing plan of the Company;

(4) to formulate the Company's plans on annual financial budgets and final accounts;

(5) to formulate the Company's profit distribution plans and plans on making up losses;

(6) to formulate the proposal for increase or decrease of the registered capital of the Company, and to formulate the issuance of debentures or other securities of the Company and listing plan of the Company;

(7) to formulate plans for substantial acquisition, repurchase of shares of the Company or merger, division, dissolution or alteration of corporate form of the Company;

(8) to decide the establishment of an internal management organization of the Company; and to decide the establishment or revocation of the subsidiaries or other branches of the Company;

(9) to elect the Chairman and the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of the

Company, and to nominate, appoint or dismiss the general manager of the Company;

(10) according to the nomination by the Chairman, to appoint or dismiss secretary of the Board of Directors, appoint or dismiss the chairman of each of the special committees of the Board of Directors;

(11) according to the nomination by the general manager, to appoint or dismiss the deputy general manager and the chief accountant of the Company, and to decide the matters of their remunerations, incentives and punishments;

(12) to formulate the basic management system of the Company;

(13) to formulate proposals for amendment to the Articles of Association;

(14) to formulate stock option incentive plans of the Company;

(15) to manage information disclosure of the Company;

(16) to decide the establishment of the special committees of the Board of Directors;

(17) to decide the risk management system of the Company, including risk assessment, financial control, internal audit and legal risk control, and supervise its enforcement;

(18) to propose in the Shareholders' General Meeting to appoint or change the accounting firm in charge of the audit of the Company;

(19) to listen to the report of work by the general manager or senior management members appointed by the general manager on a regular or irregular basis, and to approve the report of work by the general manager;

(20) to manage the issue of external guarantee made by the Company which is not required for examination in the Shareholders' General Meeting, as provided in the Articles of Association;

(21) to make decision for the projects related to the Company's major business but not yet budgeted and the investment amount of which should not exceed RMB1 billion per unit;

(22) to authorize the management of the Company to decide the not-yet-budgeted expense which will not exceed RMB50 million accumulatively in twelve (12) months;(23) regularly assess and continuously improve the corporate governance, and evaluate the performance of the Board of Directors regularly, including:

1. formulate and audit the corporate governance policies and its execution;

2. examine and supervise the directors and senior executives' trainings and their development of professional capacities;

3. examine and supervise the Company's policies concerning compliance with laws and regulatory requirements as well as its practice;

4. formulate, examine and supervise the code of conduct of the employees and directors of the Company as well as the compliance rules; examine the Company's compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in Appendix 14 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules and its disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report prepared in accordance with Appendix 23 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules;

(24) and other authorities specified by the laws, regulations, the listing rules of the stock exchange where the shares of the Company are listed, and granted by the Shareholders' General Meeting and the Articles of Association.

Article 4 As the permanent decision-making body of the Company, the Board of Directors exercises its right to make decisions on the development strategy, operating plans, capital operations, financial supervision, personnel management and other affairs of the Company in accordance with the Terms of Reference herein.

Article 5 The Board of Directors shall have the right to exercise the power not necessarily exercised by the Shareholders' General Meeting as a mandatory requirement to decide on material affairs concerning strategy development, operations management, finance & audit, personnel management and other aspects that are not specified in the Articles of Association and the Terms of Reference herein.

When granting part of its authorities to the management, the Board of Directors shall define the scope of authorization, particularly the scope of affairs for which the management shall report to and obtain prior approvals from the Board of Directors.

The Company shall draw a clear line between the rights reserved by the Board of Directors and those granted to the management. The Company shall periodically review the aforesaid matrix of authorities to ensure that it satisfies the needs of the Company.

Chapter 3 Structure of the Board of Directors

Article 6 The Board of Directors consists of 9 directors, including 3 independent non-executive directors. The Board of Directors shall consist of one Chairman and two Vice Chairmen, who shall be elected by more than half of all the directors.

Article 7 The Vice Chairmen shall assist the Chairman in his work. When the Chairman is incapable of performing his duties and fails to designate the Vice Chairmen to exercise his authorities on his behalf, or the Chairman fails to perform his duties, the Vice Chairmen shall perform the duty of the Chairman (if the Company has two or more Vice Chairmen, the Vice Chairman recommended by more than half of the directors shall perform the duty). When a Vice Chairman is incapable or fails to perform his duty, more than half of the directors shall elect a director to perform the duties on his behalf.

Article 8 Each director shall ensure that they have enough time and energy to handle the affairs of the Company; otherwise, they shall not accept the appointment.

Article 9 The Chairman shall not concurrently act as the President. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the President shall be clearly defined and specified in writing.

Article 10 The Company shall publish the latest list of the members of the Board of Directors, and specify their respective roles and functions on its website. The directory containing the names of the directors shall indicate the identities of the independent non-executive directors.

Article 11 Term of Office of Directors

(1) The term of each Board of Directors is three years. The term of one director shall

commence as of the date when the Shareholders' General Meeting adopts the relevant resolution, and shall end when the term of the current Board of Directors expires. A director may be reelected after the expiration of his term.

(2) If no reelection is conducted soon after the term of one director expires, or the members of the Board of Directors is less than the quorum due to a resignation of a director during his term, the original directors shall still perform their duties as the directors in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations and these Articles of Association, before the new director holds office.

(3) While observing relevant laws and regulations, the Shareholders' General Meeting can remove any director whose term has not yet expired from his position by passing a common resolution (nevertheless, any claim due under any contract shall not be affected by such removal). However the Shareholders' General Meeting shall not remove such director without cause.

Article 12 The major duties of the Chairman of the Board of Directors are as follows: (1) to preside over Shareholders' General Meetings and to convene and preside over meetings of the Board of Directors;

(2) to procure and check the implementation of resolutions of the Board of Directors and listen to relevant report of work;

(3) to procure and arrange for the formulating of various rules and systems for the operation of the Board of Directors, and to coordinate the work of the Board of Directors;

(4) to sign the securities certificates issued by the Company;

(5) to sign important documents of the Board of Directors;

(6) to sign important legally binding documents on behalf of the Company;

(7) to exercise special rights of disposal over the Company's affairs that are in line with the requirements under the laws and the interests of the Company in the event of force majeure or significant crises and under the critical situation where a meeting of the Board of Directors cannot be held timely and to report to the Board of Directors afterwards;

(8) to hold at least one (1) meeting per year with the non-executive Directors (including Independent non-executive Directors) without the presence of executive Directors.

(9) other duties conferred by the laws and regulation or the Articles of Association and the Board of Directors.

Article 13 The functions of the independent non-executive Directors shall include but are not limited to the following:

1. attend meetings of the Board of Directors, and express independent opinions on affairs involving strategies, policies, performance of the Company, accountability, resources, major appointments, codes of conducts and other areas;

2. act as coordinators and guides when a potential conflict of interest happens;

3. act as members of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and other

committees upon invitation; and

4. examine whether the performance of the Company fulfills the established objectives and purposes, and supervise and report the affairs relating to the performance of the Company.

Article 14 The Board of Directors can establish a number of special committees such as the Nomination Committee, the Strategy Committee, the Remuneration & Evaluation Committee and the Audit Committee. Such special committees shall study professional affairs, and give opinions and suggestions for the reference of the Board of Directors.

All the members of the special committees shall be directors. Specifically, the independent non-executive directors shall constitute a majority in the Remuneration & Evaluation Committee. All the members of the Audit Committee shall be non-executive directors, among whom the independent non-executive directors shall constitute the majority. Further, at least one independent non-executive director shall hold an appropriate professional qualification or possess the appropriate expertise in accounting or financial management, and the director of the Audit Committee shall be an independent non-executive director. Non-executive directors shall constitute the majority in the Nomination Committee, and the director of the Nomination Committee shall be an independent non-executive directors.

Article 15 The major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. review the organizational structure of the Board of Directors and the number and structure of its members (including skill set, knowledge and experience) at least once each year, and suggest any proposed changes in the Board of Directors in coordination with the corporate strategy of the issuer;

2. look for persons with the necessary qualifications as directors, and select and nominate relevant persons to act as directors, or suggest the Board of Directors in this regard;

3. review the independence of independent non-executive directors;

4. suggest to the Board of Directors on the appointment of relevant directors and senior executives;

5. with the authorization of the Board of Directors, engage intermediaries to contribute professional opinions to assist in its decision-making, when necessary, with reasonable expenses so incurred to be borne by the Company; and

6. such other affairs as authorized by the Board of Directors.

Article 16 The major responsibilities of the Strategic Committee are as follows:

1. research the long-term strategy and important investment decisions of the Company and advise the Board of Directors in this regard;

2. research material investment & financing plans that shall be approved by the Board of Directors, and make suggestions to the Board of Directors in this regard;

3. research material capital operation and asset operation projects that shall be approved by the Board of Directors, and make suggestions to the latter in this regard;

4. research other matters influencing the development of the Company and give suggestions;

5. audit the implementation of the affairs stated above; and

6. such other affairs as authorized by the Board of Directors.

Article 17 The major responsibilities of the Remuneration & Evaluation Committee include:

1. study the evaluation standard for directors and senior executives, perform the evaluation of the aforesaid persons and give suggestions;

2. research and review the remuneration policy and plan for directors and senior executives (including the compensation of directors and senior executives on account of their loss of positions, retirement and other factors), based on the corporate objectives established by the Board of Directors;

3. recommend the remuneration policy for directors and senior executives (including non-monetary benefits, pension rights and compensation (including the compensation for the loss or termination of positions or appointments) to the Board of Directors, and submit the same to the latter for approval; suggest the remunerations of non-executive directors to the Board of Directors; and execute the remuneration policy made by the Board of Directors;

4. organize the evaluation of the President, submit an evaluation report on the President to the Board of Directors, and supervise the evaluation of other senior executives of the Company led by the President;

5. research the incentive plan, remuneration system and options plan of the Company, supervise and assess their implementation results, and express opinions on their reform and improvement;

6. ensure no director or any related person will determine their personal remunerations on their own; and

7. such other affairs as specified by relevant laws, regulations and listing rules in the region where the Company is listed, and as authorized by the Board of Directors.

Article 18 The major responsibilities of the Remuneration & Evaluation Committee include:

1. review the annual internal audit plan of the Company;

2. supervise the quality of the Company's internal audit and its disclosure of financial information, and review the interim and annual financial statements before submission of the same to the Board of Directors;

3. meet the external auditor at least twice each year to discuss the financial information and accounts of the Company;

4. supervise the appointment and dismissal of the head of the internal audit department of the Company, and express relevant opinions;

5. supervise the Company's engagement, replacement and payment of remunerations with respect to the external auditor and other intermediaries, act as the major representative between the Company and the external auditor, and supervise the relations between both parties;

6. review the effectiveness of the Company's internal control procedures, and accept complaints from relevant parties;

7. review and supervise the independence and objectivity of the external auditor as well as the effectiveness of the audit procedure based on the applicable standards; discuss the nature and scope of the audit as well as the corresponding responsibility of declaration with the auditor before the audit starts; and approve the articles concerning the remuneration and engagement of the external auditor;

8. make the policy on the engagement of the external auditor to render non-audit services, and execute such policy;

9. supervise the financial reporting system and internal supervision procedure of the Company;

10. review the arrangement whereby employees express their concerns anonymously on possible inconsistencies in financial reporting, internal supervision or other affairs; ensure the Company has an appropriate arrangement whereby the committee can investigate relevant affairs fairly and independently, and take appropriate actions to follow up; and

11. such other important audit affairs.

Article 19 The special committees under the Board of Directors shall formulate respective working rules, and submit the same to the Board of Directors for approval and validation.

Article 20 The directors shall comply with the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix 10 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Chapter 4 Board Secretary

Article 21 The Company assigns one Secretary of the Board of Directors, who is a senior executive of the Company and is responsible to the Board of Directors. The main responsibilities of the Secretary are to enhance the corporate governance standard of the Company and handle the information disclosure of the Company.

Article 22 The primary responsibilities of the Board Secretary are:

- (1) to be responsible for communication and coordination between the Company and the related parties and the stock exchange and other securities regulatory authorities, and to ensure that the Company prepare and submit reports and documents required by the regulatory authorities legally;
- (2) to be responsible for information disclosure of the Company, to procure the Company to formulate and implement the information disclosure management system and material information internal reporting system, to procure the Company and the related parties to fulfill the information disclosure obligation in accordance with laws and to submit regular reports and interim reports to the stock exchange in accordance to relevant regulations;
- (3) to coordinate the relationship between the Company and its investors, to handle visits of the investors, to answer questions raised by the investors, and to provide the investors with information disclosed by the Company;
- (4) to prepare Shareholders' General Meetings and meetings of the Board of Directors following statutory procedures and to prepare and submit relevant documents and information of the meetings;
- (5) to attend meetings of the Board of Directors and prepare and sign the minutes of the meetings;
- (6) to be responsible for confidentiality issues relating to information disclosure of the Company, formulate confidentiality measures, procure the Directors, supervisors, the general manager and other senior management members and related informed persons to keep all information confidential before disclosure thereof, to make prompt responsive remedies in the event of divulgence of inside information and to report to the stock exchange;
- (7) to be responsible for keeping Shareholders' register, Directors' register, data about shareholdings of major Shareholders, Directors, supervisors, general managers and other senior management members, and documents and minutes of the Shareholders' General Meetings and meetings of the Board of Directors; to ensure the Company has complete organizational documents and records; to ensure the persons with rights to access relevant records and documents of the Company can have the said records and documents in time;
- (8) to help Directors, supervisors, the general manager and other senior management members familiarize themselves with relevant prescriptions on information disclosure in laws, regulations, rules, listing rules and other rules of the stock exchange, the Articles of Association, and the provisions in the listing agreements concerning their legal liabilities;

- (9) to procure the Board of Directors to legally exercise its functions and powers ; to remind the attending Directors where the resolutions to be made by the Board of Directors do not comply with the relevant laws, regulations, rules, listing rules and other requirements of the stock exchange or the Articles of Association, and request the supervisors present at meeting to express their opinions; to record the opinions of relevant supervisors and persons in the minutes if the Board of Directors insists on making the aforesaid resolutions, and to report to the stock exchange;
- (10) to fulfill other duties specified in the applicable laws, regulations, rules, listing rules and other requirements of the stock exchange and the Articles of Association.

Article 23 Directors or other senior management members other than the general manager of and the chief accountant of the Company may also act as the Secretary of the Board of Directors. The accountant(s) of the certified public accountants' firm appointed by the Company shall not act as the Secretary of the Board of Directors.

Article 24 Provided that the office of the Board Secretary is held concurrently by a Director, and an act is required to be made by a Director and the Board Secretary separately, the person who concurrently holds the offices of a Director and the Board Secretary shall not perform the act in dual capacity.

Chapter 5 Meeting System of the Board of Directors

Article 25 Board Meeting

1. Meetings of the Board of Directors include regular meetings and special meetings in terms of the certainty of such meetings.

2. The Board of Directors shall hold at least four meetings each year.

3. The Chairman, shareholder(s) representing more than 10% of the voting rights, more than three directors, more than half of the independent non-executive directors, the Board of Supervisors or the President can propose to hold a special meeting of the Board of Directors. The Chairman shall convene and preside over the meeting of the Board of Directors within 10 days after receipt of the proposal.

Article 26 Regular meetings of the Board of Directors include but are not limited to the following:

1. Meetings of the Board of Directors on approving the performance report of the Company:

1) meeting of the Board of Directors regarding the annual results

This meeting is held within three months after an accounting year of the Company ends mainly for the purpose of reviewing the annual report of the Company and handling other relevant affairs. The annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held at such a time as to guarantee the distribution of the annual report of the Company to the shareholders within the time specified by relevant laws and regulations as well as the Articles of Association, guarantee the disclosure of the annual preliminary financial result of the Company within the time stipulated by relevant laws and regulations, and guarantee the holding of the Shareholders' General Meeting within six months after the end of the accounting year of the Company.

2) meeting of the Board of Directors regarding interim results

This meeting is held within two months after the first six months of an accounting year of the Company ends mainly for the purpose of reviewing the interim report of the Company and handling other relevant affairs.

2. Summary meeting at the end of the year

This meeting is held every December to hear the report of the President on the expected fulfillment of the work throughout the entire year and tasks arranged for the following year.

Article 27 The Board of Directors may convene meetings by way of on-site meetings, telephone conferences and written resolutions.

All the meetings of the Board of Directors can take the form of an on-site meeting.

Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held by way of telephone conferences on the condition that the directors attending such meetings can clearly hear and communicate with other directors. A meeting of the Board of Directors held in this manner shall be recorded, and if a director cannot immediately sign the resolutions at such meetings, they may adopt the method of verbal voting. The verbal voting of the director shall have the same effect as his written signature, but the director shall still sign a written letter of confirmation after the meeting.

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors do not include obtaining the approval from the Board of Directors by circulating written resolutions. If meetings of the Board of Directors other than regular meetings cannot take the form of an on-site meeting or telephone conference for some reason, or it is unnecessary to discuss relevant proposals based on the nature of the affairs discussed, the meetings can take the form of a written proposal and resolving the proposals by circulating them for review (including face-to-face delivery, fax, express delivery and registered air mail). A director shall be deemed to agree with a proposal by signing it, unless the director specifies otherwise on it.

Chapter 6 Procedures for Discussion of the Board of Directors

Article 28 Submission of Proposals

Submission of proposals to the Board of Directors is mainly based on the following cases:

- 1. affairs proposed by the directors;
- 2. affairs proposed by the Supervisory Board;
- 3. proposals submitted by the special committees under the Board of Directors;
- 4. affairs proposed by the President; and

5. affairs that shall be decided by the Board of Directors, according to the Articles of Association.

Any material connected transaction and the engagement or removal of the accounting firm shall be approved by more than half of the independent non-executive directors before submission to the Board of Directors for discussion.

Article 29 Collection of Proposals

The Board Secretary is responsible for collecting drafts on the affairs to be discussed in a meeting. Relevant proposals, together with relevant statements, shall be submitted 15 days before the meeting.

After sorting the relevant documents, the Board Secretary shall list the time, venue and agenda of the meeting, and submit the same to the Chairman. The Chairman shall ensure that all directors who will attend the meeting are properly informed of the affairs to be deliberated. The Chairman shall ensure that the directors receive complete, adequate and feasible information in time.

Article 30 Convening of Meetings

The Chairman shall convene a meeting of the Board of Directors, and sign the notice on the convening of the meeting. When the Chairman cannot convene the meeting for special reasons, one Vice Chairman or director shall convene the meeting, who shall also sign and issue the notice on convening the meeting, according to Article 7 herein.

Article 31 Notice of the Meeting

1. A prior notice of a meeting of the Board of Directors shall be distributed to all the directors, all the supervisors and other attendees before the meeting. The notice of the meeting generally includes the following information:

- 1) the time and venue of the meeting;
- 2) period of the meeting;
- 3) agenda, causes, proposals and relevant documents; and
- 4) date of notice;

2. A meeting of the Board of Directors shall be notified according to the requirements and in such manner as following:

1) forms of notice: phone, fax and email;

2) the notice of a regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be distributed

10 days in advance, while a special meeting is not subject to the time of notice;

3) the notice shall be made in Chinese and attached with an English translation when necessary.

Any director can waive the right to require the receipt of the notice of a meeting of the Board of Directors. If a director has attended the meeting and has not raised the issue about the failure to receive the notice before he attends the meeting or before the meeting starts, the director shall be deemed to have received the notice of the meeting.

Article 32 Communications before the meeting

The agenda and relevant documents for a regular meeting shall be delivered to all the directors in time, and sent out at least three days (or any other time as agreed upon) before the date of the meeting of the Board of Directors or its special committees. Other meetings of the Board of Directors shall also observe the aforesaid arrangement, when truly feasible. After the sending of the notice of the meeting and before it is convened, the Board Secretary shall be responsible for organizing and arranging the communication and contact with all the directors, in particular the independent non-executive directors, obtaining their opinions or suggestions on relevant proposals, and feedback the same to the persons submitting the proposals in time to improve relevant proposals. The Board Secretary shall also arrange in a timely manner the supplement of the documents required by the directors to make corresponding decisions on the proposals to be discussed, including relevant background information of the proposals and other information that helps the directors make scientific, quick and prudent decisions.

The management has the responsibility to provide adequate timely information for the Board of Directors and its special committees so that the directors can make decisions after analyzing the relevant information. The information provided by the management shall be integral and reliable. The directors shall duly perform their responsibilities as directors, and shall not always depend only on the information actively provided by the management. In some cases, they will need to conduct further inquiry on their own. If any director requires additional information (other than that provided by the management actively) to be provided by the management, the Company shall, on an as-needed basis, conduct further inquiry. The Board of Directors and each director shall have an independent mode of access to the senior executives. In general, the Board Secretary shall be the bridge of communication between the management and the Board of Directors.

When appropriate, the Secretary to the Board of Directors shall be responsible for arranging the directors to seek independent professional opinions when they perform their responsibilities to the Company, the expense so incurred shall be paid by the Company, and relevant requests shall be submitted in writing to the Secretary of the Board of Directors. The Board Secretary shall reasonably seek suitable professionals to provide opinions efficiently.

When more than one quarter of the directors or more than two independent

non-executive directors think the materials are inadequate or the demonstration is unclear, they can jointly propose to delay the meeting or some affairs discussed by the Board of Directors, and the Board of Directors shall adopt such proposal. Unless such request is directly brought forward at a meeting of the Board of Directors, the Secretary to the Board of Directors shall distribute in a timely manner a notice to the directors, the supervisors and the non-voting attendees after receipt of such written request.

Article 33 Participation in Meetings

A meeting of the Board of Directors can be held when it is attended by more than half of the directors (including the directors attending the meeting by proxy).

All directors of the Board of Directors shall be present at the meeting in person. If a director is unable to attend for any reason, he can entrust another director in writing to attend on his behalf. (Any independent non-executive director unable to attend the meeting shall consign another independent non-executive director to attend the meeting on his behalf). The power of attorney shall indicate the name of the agent, the affairs under agency, the scope of authorization and the effective period, and shall be signed or stamped by the principal. The director present at the meeting on his behalf shall exercise the director's rights to the extent of authorization.

If a non-independent director fails to attend the meeting of the Board of Directors and consign other directors to attend such meeting twice in succession, the director shall be considered as unable to perform his duty as a director, and the Board of Directors shall suggest that the Shareholders' General Meeting replace such director.

If an independent non-executive director fails to attend two consecutive meetings of the Board of Directors in person, the Board of Directors shall propose to the Shareholders' General Meeting to replace the director.

The Chairman shall preside over meetings of the Board of Directors. When the Chairman cannot perform this duty, one Vice Chairman or director shall preside over meetings, according to Article 7. After the reelection of the Board of Directors at the Shareholders' General Meeting, the director winning the most number of affirmative votes at the meeting (if there are several directors, then one director shall be elected) shall preside over the meeting and shall elect the Chairman of the current Board of Directors.

Article 34 Review of Proposals

The chairman of a meeting shall announce the commencement of the meeting according to the predetermined time. After the formal commencement of the meeting, the directors present at the meeting shall first reach an agreement on the agenda of the meeting. When more than one quarter of the directors or more than two independent non-executive directors deem that the materials are inadequate or the demonstration is unclear, they can jointly propose to delay the meeting or some items to be discussed by the Board of Directors, and the chairman shall adopt such proposal.

After the directors reach an agreement on the agenda, the chairman will preside over the meeting to review the proposals of the meeting one by one, and the persons submitting the proposals shall first report their work or state their proposals to the Board of Directors or consign others to do the same.

When reviewing relevant plans, proposals and reports, a meeting of the Board of the Directors can require the leaders of the responsible departments to attend the meeting as non-voting attendees, hear their opinions and ask relevant questions to correctly make their decisions. Upon finding a proposal or plan contains unclear information or the plan is not feasible, the Board of Directors shall ask the undertaking departments to state the fact, and may return the proposal or plan for rework, while suspending the voting.

Article 35 Voting on proposals

All the directors present at a meeting shall cast affirmative, negative or abstention votes on proposals submitted to the Board of Directors.

The director present at the meeting on behalf of another director shall exercise the principal's rights to the extent of authorization.

If a director fails to attend one meeting of the Board of Directors and consign a representative to do the same, the director shall be deemed to have waived his voting right at such meeting.

When the Board of Directors makes a resolution on an affair, the resolution shall be approved by more than half of the all the directors, except otherwise required by the Articles of Association for the affairs that shall be approved by more than two-thirds of all directors.

Meetings of the Board of Directors can adopt a show of hands or a ballot system to vote. Each director has one voting right. When the negative votes and the affirmative votes are equal, the Chairman shall have the right to cast one more vote.

When a director is related to an enterprise involved in a resolution made by a meeting of the Board of Directors (meaning that the director acts as a director or senior executive in the enterprise, directly or indirectly controls a legal person of the enterprise, or serves as a director or senior executive in a legal person directly or indirectly controlled by the enterprise), the director shall abstain from voting on the resolution or exercising the voting right on behalf of other directors. Such meeting of the Board of Directors can be held when it is attended by more than half of the directors not related to the resolution, and the resolution made at the meeting of the Board of Directors shall be adopted by more than half of the directors not related to the resolution. When attending directors not related to the resolution are less than three, the corresponding affair shall be submitted to the Shareholders' General Meeting for review. Article 36 Liabilities of Directors to Resolutions of the Board of Directors

Any written resolution of the Board of Directors not made through the legal procedure shall not have the legal effect as a resolution of the Board of Directors, even if every director expresses opinions on the resolution in different approaches. The directors shall undertake the liability for the resolution made by the Board of Directors. If a resolution made by a meeting of the Board of Directors violates the laws, administrative regulations or the Articles of Association and causes the Company to incur a serious loss, the directors who cast affirmative votes shall undertake the direct liability (including the liability of compensation). The directors proved to oppose the resolution recorded in the minutes of the meeting can be exempt from the liabilities. The directors who cast abstention votes during the voting or do not attend the meeting in person or by proxy shall not be exempted from any liabilities. The directors who clearly disagreed with the resolution during the discussion but did not expressly cast negative votes during the voting shall not be exempted from the liabilities.

The Company shall make an appropriate insurance arrangement for possible legal conduct faced by every director.

Article 37 Resolutions of Meetings

A meeting of the Board of Directors shall usually make a resolution on an affair discussed. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors do not include obtaining the approval of the Board of Directors by circulating written resolutions.

If the Board of Directors deems that a majority shareholder or director constitutes a material conflict of interest with an affair to be considered, relevant affair shall not be handled by circulating the corresponding document or leaving it to a special committee (except that such a special committee is especially established for such an affair and by a resolution adopted at the meeting of the Board of Directors), and the Board of Directors shall hold an on-site meeting on the affair. An independent non-executive director who is not materially interested in the transaction in person or via its related parties shall attend the relevant meetings of the Board of Directors.

Any resolution made by the Board of Directors on a connected transaction of the Company shall be signed by all the independent non-executive directors before it takes effect.

The opinions expressed by the independent non-executive directors shall be indicated on the resolution made by the Board of Directors.

Article 38 Minutes

The minutes of the Board of Directors are the formal evidence of an affair resolved by the Board of Directors, which shall keep detailed minutes on the affairs discussed in its meetings. The minutes of the Board of Directors shall contain the following information:

1. date and venue of the meeting as well as the names of the convener and the

chairperson;

2. names of the directors attending in person and the names of the directors attending by proxy and their proxies;

3. meeting agenda;

4. points of the speeches of the directors, which shall include any questions raised by a director or negative opinions expressed (written feedback opinions shall prevail, if a meeting is held via correspondence voting);

5. voting method and results for each issue resolved (the voting result shall specify the numbers of affirmative, negative or abstention votes); and

6. signatures of the directors.

The Board Secretary shall in earnest record and sort the affairs deliberated at the meetings. The minutes of every meeting of the Board of Directors shall be distributed as soon as possible to all the directors attending the meeting for review. A director hoping to make a revision or supplement to the minutes shall report his revision opinions to the Chairman within one week after receipt of the minutes. After the minutes are finalized, the directors, the Board Secretary and the recorder shall sign the minutes, and the Board Secretary shall send copies of the entire minutes to each director as soon as possible. The minutes of the Board of Directors shall be permanently saved as important archives at the domicile of the Company. When a director sends a notice as is reasonable at any time period, the Board of Directors shall provide the relevant minutes for the director to check the minutes within a reasonable time period.

Chapter 7 Information Disclosure for Meetings of the Board of Directors

Article 39 The Board of Directors of the Company shall strictly comply with relevant provisions concerning information disclosure established by the supervisory authority and the stock exchange in the region where the shares of the Company are listed, and disclose the affairs discussed and resolutions adopted by the meetings of the Board of Directors in an integral, timely and accurate manner. The Board of Directors shall, on the principle of fair information disclosure and in a timely fashion, report the information involving material affairs to relevant stock exchanges, disclose such information in accordance with relevant listing rules, and file the same to relevant supervisory authorities (if applicable).

Article 40 Any person informed of the relevant contents of the meetings of the Board of Directors that required to be kept confidential shall safeguard the confidentiality of such contents, or shall undertake the corresponding liability.

Chapter 8 Document Management for Meetings of the Board of Directors

Article 41 The Board Secretary shall organize and sort the powers of attorney, minutes, records, resolutions, other text materials and audio & video materials of the meetings of the Board of Directors, and save the aforesaid items permanently.

Chapter 9 Execution and Feedback of Resolutions of the Board of Directors

Article 42 After adopting a resolution that shall be submitted to the Shareholders' General Meeting for review, the Board of Directors shall submit the resolution in time to the Shareholders' General Meeting for approval. If the resolution falls into the scope of the responsibilities of the President or the affairs authorized by the Board of Directors to the President, the President shall organize and execute the resolution.

Article 43 The Chairman shall have the right to consign other directors to examine and supervise the execution of the resolutions made by the meetings of the Board of Directors.

Article 44 Every time the Board of Directors holds a meeting, the management of the Company shall report the execution of the resolutions adopted in the prior meeting during the meeting.

Article 45 Under the leadership of the Board of Directors and the Chairman, the Board Secretary shall actively master the implementation progress of the resolutions adopted by the meetings of the Board of Directors, report important problems during the implementation periodically (monthly) and timely to the Board of Directors and the Chairman, and give suggestions in this regard.

Chapter 10 Supplementary Provisions

Article 46 Under the Terms of Reference, "above" includes the respective clause, "exceed" doesn't include the base number, and "days" refers to a working day.

Article 47 The formulation and revision of the Terms of Reference shall take effect after all the directors adopt them in one accord.

Article 48 If the Terms of Reference fails to cover any affair or are in conflict with any law, regulation, other relevant normative documents or the Articles of Association published from time to time, the latter shall prevail.

Article 49 The Terms of Reference shall be construed by the Board of Directors.

Article 50 The Terms of Reference has both the Chinese and English versions. In case of any discrepancies between the Chinese version and the English one, the Chinese version shall prevail.